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A Member of the State Bar, No. 79896.
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	Case No. 06-C-15151

OPINION AND ORDER



	Roland Clark Colton appeals from a hearing judge’s recommendation that he receive a one-year stayed suspension and probation due to his 2011 misdemeanor conviction.  He seeks a public reproval with conditions.  We agree with Colton because the hearing judge relied on a factual error in his analysis. 
	Colton’s misconduct occurred nearly 12 years ago, in 2001, when he submitted a form containing an inaccurate entry to the Trustee in his own bankruptcy case.  Five years later, in 2006, federal prosecutors filed bankruptcy fraud charges against him.  After the jury failed to reach a verdict, Colton pled guilty to misdemeanor contempt for not cooperating with 
the Trustee.    
	The record in the disciplinary trial below is very limited.  The Office of the Chief Trial Counsel (State Bar) relied entirely on a stipulation to prove its case.  This stipulation provided that the facts and circumstances surrounding Colton’s conviction did not constitute moral turpitude, but did involve other misconduct warranting discipline.  It also offered the only evidence of the facts and circumstances of Colton’s conviction – that he incorrectly marked the bankruptcy form and then failed to ensure that it was accurate in all material respects before it was submitted to the Trustee.  Colton testified briefly on his own behalf.  
	Colton has one prior record of discipline since he was admitted to the Bar in 1978.  He was disciplined in 1985 due to his 1983 federal conviction for aiding and abetting the preparation of two false income tax returns for clients.  His misconduct occurred in 1981.  Due to strong mitigation, he received only a public reproval with conditions.  In the present conviction case, the hearing judge imposed a stayed suspension as progressive discipline under Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, standard 1.7(a).[footnoteRef:1]    [1:  All further references to standards are to this source.  Standard 1.7(a) directs that the degree of discipline imposed on an attorney with a prior record of discipline “shall be greater than that imposed in the prior proceeding unless the prior discipline imposed was so remote in time to the current proceeding and the offense for which it was imposed was so minimal in severity that imposing greater discipline in the current proceeding would be manifestly unjust.”] 

	On review, Colton seeks a public reproval with conditions, asserting that progressive discipline is not warranted because his prior case is remote in time and his present misconduct was minimal.  He argues that the hearing judge gave too much weight to his 1985 discipline based on an incorrect finding that it occurred only six years before his present (2001) misconduct when, in fact, 16 years had passed.  The State Bar asks that we affirm the hearing judge’s recommendation despite this error.  The main issues on appeal are: (1) what weight to assign the 1985 discipline case; and (2) whether to apply progressive discipline (stayed suspension) instead of a public reproval.  
	After independently reviewing the record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 9.12), we find that progressive discipline is not warranted.  We give less weight to Colton’s prior discipline case than the hearing judge did because it is remote in time and the misconduct was extensively mitigated.  In addition, Colton’s present misconduct was minimal and it occurred almost 12 years ago.  Since that time, he has practiced law without further ethical violations.  Overall, Colton’s mitigation far outweighs the aggravation of his 1985 discipline.  We conclude that a public reproval with conditions will adequately protect the public, the courts, and the legal profession without imposing punishment on Colton.
I.  FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING COLTON’S CONVICTION[footnoteRef:2] [2:  Our findings are based on the parties’ Stipulation as to Facts, Conclusion of Law, and Admission of Documents, the trial evidence, and the hearing judge’s findings.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.155(A) [hearing judge’s factual findings entitled to great weight on review].)  ] 


	For purposes of attorney discipline, Colton’s conviction proves his guilt of all requisite elements of his crime.  (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6101, subd. (a).)[footnoteRef:3]  After the State Bar transmitted the conviction records to us, we referred the matter to the hearing department to determine whether the facts and circumstances of the crime involved moral turpitude or other misconduct warranting discipline and, if so, the proper level of discipline.  (§ 6102, subd. (e); In re Kelley (1990) 52 Cal.3d 487, 494.)  Since the parties stipulated that the facts and circumstances of the conviction constituted other misconduct warranting discipline, we “look to the whole course of [Colton’s ] conduct which reflects upon his fitness to practice law,” not merely the elements of the crime, to determine the proper discipline.  (In re Hurwitz (1976) 17 Cal.3d 562, 567.)   [3:  All further references to sections refer to the Business and Professions Code. ] 

A.	Colton Filed Bankruptcy in 2001
	Colton was admitted to the Bar 34 years ago in 1978.  He has practiced law primarily as a solo practitioner doing general litigation and tax work.  In 1999, he began experiencing financial difficulties.  By 2001, he decided to file a Chapter 7 bankruptcy to discharge his personal debts.  Colton hired a bankruptcy attorney because he lacked experience in this area of law.  He provided his financial information to the attorney, who prepared the bankruptcy forms.  Once the bankruptcy petition was filed in October 2001, the court appointed a Trustee and entered an Order of Relief, which obligated Colton to cooperate with the Trustee in administering the estate.


B.	Colton Submitted an Inaccurate Bankruptcy Document
	On November 16, 2001, Colton appeared before the Trustee for a meeting of creditors.  He was required to submit a form entitled “341(a) Meeting of Creditors, Questionnaire” (Questionnaire) to the Trustee before the meeting.  Colton’s attorney arrived late and had not yet completed the Questionnaire.  His attorney hastily prepared the document, which he gave to Colton to sign, indicating that it contained the financial information they had discussed.  Contrary to his usual practice, Colton did not read the Questionnaire before he signed and submitted it to the Trustee.[footnoteRef:4]   [4:  At the time, Colton was suffering significant personal stress.  His wife developed health issues and almost died, which left her with frequent bouts of anxiety.  Although he testified his problems did not impact his ability to practice law, they caused him great concern. ] 

	The Questionnaire included a series of “check-off” boxes, including one that asked if Colton was a beneficiary or trustee of any trusts.  Colton’s attorney had marked “no” in response.  This was incorrect since Colton was a trustee of his irrevocable family trust.  Colton testified that his attorney believed this trust was not subject to the bankruptcy.  Ultimately, Colton dismissed the bankruptcy case without discharging any debt, and the Questionnaire never became part of the bankruptcy file.  
C.	Criminal Charges Were Filed Against Colton Five Years After Misconduct
	Colton’s error on the Questionnaire ultimately led to criminal charges being filed against him.  In 2006, he was charged with seven counts of criminal misconduct related to bankruptcy fraud in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California, Case No. 3:06-cr-02252, United States v. Colton.  In 2009, the case proceeded to trial but ended in a hung jury.  The prosecutor called Colton two and one-half years later in December 2011, and suggested a plea agreement to a lesser charge.  Colton consented because he wanted to finalize the matter without putting his family through another trial.  
D.	Colton Pled Guilty to One Count of Criminal Contempt	
	On December 19, 2011, Colton pled guilty to violating 18 U.S.C. § 401(3) (Criminal Contempt – Misdemeanor).  The written plea agreement recited the factual basis for the crime as follows: “By submitting this form [the Questionnaire] to the Trustee, and failing to ensure that it was accurate in all material respects, [Colton] willfully resisted the lawful Order of Relief . . . which required [Colton] to cooperate with the Trustee.”  He was sentenced to two years’ supervised probation and ordered to pay a $25.00 assessment.[footnoteRef:5]  Colton agreed, as an additional term of probation, to pay restitution of $405,811, plus penalties and interest, to the California Franchise Tax Board (FTB) for taxes owed from 1992 to 1998.   [5:  The maximum penalty for this crime included six months in prison, a $5,000 fine, a mandatory special assessment of $25, and a term of supervised release of not more than one year.] 

E.	The Discipline Trial
	The State Bar presented the stipulation to prove the facts and circumstances surrounding the conviction.  It stated, in relevant part, that Colton: (1) attended the creditors’ meeting; (2) failed to correctly mark the “check-off” box indicating he was a trustee of any trust; and (3) failed to “ensure that [the Questionnaire] was accurate in all material respects” before submitting it to the Trustee.  While certain facts in the record raise concerns about Colton’s misconduct – such as initial bankruptcy fraud charges and the large amount of restitution paid to the FTB – the State Bar failed to present evidence from which we might conclude that Colton’s misconduct was more serious than the stipulation recited.
	Colton testified at his discipline trial about his professional background, other facts and circumstances surrounding his conviction, and his pro bono and community service.  He repeatedly acknowledged his wrongdoing, admitting that he erred by not reading the Questionnaire before signing it: “I’m meticulous in my own practice and advising clients to read documents so it’s not [an] excuse.  I don’t offer it as an excuse.  I accept full responsibility for my failure.”  He testified that he is complying with the terms of his criminal probation, including making monthly restitution payments of $2,500 to the FTB. 
II.  MITIGATION AND AGGRAVATION 
	The offering party bears the burden of proof for aggravation and mitigation.  The State Bar must establish aggravating circumstances by clear and convincing evidence.[footnoteRef:6]  (Std. 1.2(b).)  Colton has the same burden to prove mitigating circumstances.  (Std. 1.2(e).)    [6:  Clear and convincing evidence leaves no substantial doubt and is sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable mind.  (Conservatorship of Wendland (2001) 26 Cal.4th 519, 552.)] 

A.	Four Mitigating Factors
	The hearing judge found two factors in mitigation – cooperation and community service/pro bono work.  Colton requests that we assign credit for several additional factors.  We find that he proved a total of four mitigating factors.[footnoteRef:7]   [7:  Colton also claimed mitigation credit for: good faith; a lenient sentence in the criminal matter; family and financial difficulties at the time of his misconduct; lack of harm; and the negative impact of a stayed suspension on his law practice.  We find that he failed to prove these factors by clear and convincing evidence.] 

	1.  Cooperation (Std. 1.2(e)(v))
	Colton entered into a stipulation with the State Bar, and conceded that his misconduct warranted discipline.  As a result, the State Bar did not call witnesses to testify at trial.  Colton’s cooperation greatly facilitated the trial and is entitled to significant mitigation.  (In the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 179, 190 [extensive weight in mitigation given to those who admit culpability and facts].)
	2.  Community Service/Pro Bono Work
	Pro bono work and community service are mitigating factors.  (Calvert v. State Bar (1991) 54 Cal.3d 765, 785.)  Colton testified that he has provided these services throughout his career, but expanded them to fill 200 hours per year during the past five to 10 years.  He performed pro bono legal work and participated in church activities, such as teaching Sunday school and playing the piano and organ.  While this commendable community service merits mitigation credit, we diminish the weight because Colton offered only his own testimony.  (In the Matter of Shalant (Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 829, 840 [limited mitigation weight for community service established solely by attorney’s testimony].)
	3.  Recognition of and Remorse for Misconduct (Std. 1.2(e)(vii))
	Although the hearing judge did not find this factor in mitigation, we assign modest weight to Colton’s recognition of and remorse for his misconduct.  In the criminal matter, he entered into a plea agreement and is complying with his probation terms.  At his discipline trial, he admitted he carelessly failed to read the Questionnaire before he signed it.  And in his brief on review, he acknowledged that “his conduct did not comport with the high duty required of attorneys in dealing with judicial matters.”  
	4.  Passage of Time Since Misconduct (Std. 1.2(e)(viii))
	Standard 1.2(e)(viii) provides mitigation for the “passage of considerable time since the acts of professional misconduct occurred followed by convincing proof of subsequent rehabilitation.”  The hearing judge assigned no mitigating credit for the passage of over 10 years from 2001 (present misconduct) to 2011 (discipline trial), noting that Colton “has been the object of ongoing criminal prosecution during the majority of that time.” 
	We assign some mitigation credit for the passage of time without misconduct.  Colton practiced law without ethical problems for five years following his 2001 misconduct before the 2006 criminal charges were filed.  He continued to practice law discipline-free for five more years through his 2011 discipline trial.  Given his cumulative 34 years in practice, we do not believe Colton acted ethically during these 10 years simply because a criminal prosecution was pending for part of that time.  (Amante v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 247, 256 [three years of untarnished post-misconduct practice given limited mitigation credit]; Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 305, 308, 316-317 [five years of unblemished post-misconduct practice demonstrated attorney’s ability to adhere to standards of professional behavior and considered mitigating].)  
B.	One Aggravating Factor
	The hearing judge properly found that Colton’s 1985 record of discipline (In the Matter of Colton (June 14, 1985) Cal. State Bar Ct. No. 84-C-00074) is an aggravating factor.           (Std. 1.2(b)(1).)  We agree, but diminish its weight because the misconduct was strongly mitigated and is remote in time.  Even the State Bar prosecutor conceded at trial that Colton’s prior discipline is “remote in time” and that “some level of mitigation will likely be given for his discipline free record since the [1985] prior.”  A 1985 stipulation between the State Bar and Colton sets out the particulars of that case, as detailed below. 
	In 1979, the year after Colton was admitted to the Bar, several church members hired him to represent Major Dynamics.  This company offered solar energy tax shelters to investors.  Before long, the principals began defrauding the investors by misusing the investment monies.  Colton did not initially suspect the fraud nor did he know that the investment tax deductions and credits were improper.  By 1980, he knew that people managing Major Dynamics were back-dating contracts.  And by 1981, he was on notice “as to the need to inquire further regarding serious irregularities in the operation of Major Dynamics.”  Yet, in 1981, he prepared tax returns for an investor and the investor’s wife claiming invalid deductions and credits for the solar panels.  His willful failure to inquire about the company’s irregularities before preparing those returns constituted “a reckless indifference for the truth.”  
	Federal prosecutors charged Colton with violating 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2) (aiding and abetting the preparation and filing of false income tax returns).  In 1983, he pled guilty and was sentenced to a suspended two-year prison term, subject to a five-year probation period, and 60 days in a jail-type institution.[footnoteRef:8]   [8:  The record does not establish whether Colton’s 1985 conviction was a felony or misdemeanor.  At oral argument, the State Bar represented that all parties understood it was            a misdemeanor.  ] 

	In 1985, Colton was disciplined for his conviction that involved moral turpitude, in violation of section 6101.  No aggravating circumstances existed and there were 11 factors in mitigation.[footnoteRef:9]  Colton received a public reproval with conditions.   [9:  Those stipulated pre-standard mitigating factors were that Colton: (1) had no disciplinary record; (2) was young and inexperienced; (3) trusted the principals; (4) provided a valid legal tax opinion when first hired; (5) believed the investment would be successful; (6) never actually knew the investor funds were being misused; (7) had himself been an investor victim; (8) believed the tax deductions and credits were proper when he prepared the investor’s return; (9) visited the company’s office only twice and had no access to its files; (10) voluntarily paid the investors $130,000 as returned commissions; and (11) produced character and support letters from investors who had lost money.] 

	In assigning full aggravating weight to Colton’s prior discipline, the hearing judge miscalculated the time period as only six years between that case (1985) and the present misconduct (2001).  Correcting the time span to 16 years, and considering the minimal discipline imposed, we properly afford only limited aggravating weight to Colton’s 1985 discipline case.  (See In the Matter of Hanson (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703, 713 [no significant aggravation for prior discipline where misconduct occurred 17 years earlier, resulted in private reproval, and involved acts unrelated to present misconduct]; In the Matter of Shinn (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96 [no significant aggravation for prior discipline where misconduct occurred 20 years earlier, resulted in public reproval, and involved acts unrelated to present misconduct].)
III.  LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE
	This proceeding is not intended to punish Colton for his wrongdoing; the criminal court has handled that.  Instead, the purpose of attorney discipline is to protect the public, the courts and the legal profession, to preserve public confidence in the profession, and to maintain high professional standards for attorneys.  (Std. 1.3.)  Ultimately, we balance all relevant factors, including mitigating and aggravating circumstances, on a case-by-case basis to ensure that the discipline imposed is consistent with its purpose.  (In re Young (1989) 49 Cal.3d 257, 266.)  Our analysis begins with the standards, which are guidelines we follow whenever possible to promote uniformity of discipline.  (In re Silverton (2005) 36 Cal.4th 81, 91-92.)  
A.	No Progressive Discipline Under Standard 1.7(A) 
	On review, Colton requests the same discipline he received in his 1985 case – a public reproval with conditions.  Standard 1.7(a) provides for progressive discipline unless the prior record was (1) so remote, and (2) the misconduct was so minimal that it would be manifestly unjust to impose a greater discipline.  Colton argues that since he meets this two-prong exception, progressive discipline is not warranted.  We agree.  
	As to the first prong, Colton’s 1985 prior discipline is remote in time, as the State Bar conceded at trial.  He assisted his clients in filing false tax returns in 1981, was convicted of the criminal offense in 1983, and was publicly reproved in 1985.  Then in 2001, he committed his present misconduct, 20 years after his past wrongdoing, and 16 years after he was publicly reproved for it.  In total, it has been 32 years to date since Colton committed the misconduct in his prior discipline case (1981 to 2013).  
	As to the second prong, Colton’s past misconduct involving moral turpitude was significantly mitigated.  He received only a public reproval, a lenient discipline reflecting that the misconduct was minor.  (See In the Matter of Hanson, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 713 [private reproval in previous discipline case indicated “misconduct itself was minimal in nature”].)  
	Colton’s discipline matters are not similar enough to suggest that he needs progressive discipline as a recidivist offender who did not learn from his prior case.  His present misconduct occurred during his own bankruptcy proceeding where he was represented by counsel.  In contrast, the misconduct in his prior case occurred during the practice of law.  Nor is this a case where Colton committed increasingly serious misconduct – failing to ensure the bankruptcy Questionnaire’s accuracy is less concerning misconduct than recklessly aiding clients to file false tax returns.  Thus, imposing progressive discipline would not serve the goals of attorney discipline and would be manifestly unjust to Colton.  (See In the Matter of Downey (Review Dept. 2009) 5 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 151, 157 [progressive discipline warranted where misconduct aggravated by serious discipline record and dishonesty].)
B.	Public Reproval with Conditions Is Appropriate Discipline
	Standard 3.4 provides that discipline for a criminal conviction involving “other misconduct warranting discipline” should appropriately reflect the nature and extent of the misconduct.  As noted, Colton’s misconduct involves his careless failure to review the bankruptcy Questionnaire.  Such negligence reflects poorly on his judgment and the legal profession in general.  
	The parties disagree on which standard applies.  The State Bar asserts that Colton’s criminal conviction for contempt is akin to a violation of section 6103 (willful violation of court order) and therefore standard 2.6 applies, calling for disbarment or suspension.  Colton argues that his misconduct – submitting an inaccurate Questionnaire to the Trustee – is comparable to failing to act competently, in violation of rule 3-110(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.[footnoteRef:10] Colton is correct because we examine the facts and circumstances surrounding the crime, not the conviction itself.  (See In re Gross (1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, 568 [misconduct, not conviction, warrants discipline]; In the Matter of Respondent O (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 581, 589, fn. 6 [whether acts underlying conviction amount to professional misconduct “is a conclusion that can only be reached by an examination of the facts and circumstances surrounding the conviction”].)   [10:  All further references to rules are to this source, unless otherwise noted.] 

	Violations of rule 3-110(A) fall within standard 2.4(b).  (In the Matter of Broderick (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 157.)  This standard calls for a reproval or suspension depending on the gravity of the offense or harm, if any, to the victim.  The State Bar conceded at trial that although Colton’s present misconduct was not minimal, “it was not of the most severe nature.”  We agree because it involved negligence, not dishonesty.  The State Bar did not argue or prove harm and presented little, if any, evidence other than the conviction itself.  Colton, on the other hand, established mitigation that outweighs the limited aggravating weight of his remote 1985 prior discipline matter.  Perhaps most significantly, Colton has not committed further ethical violations in nearly 12 years since his 2001 misconduct, while increasing his service to the community.  
In light of Colton’s 34 years of practicing law, his minimal misconduct, and his strong mitigating evidence, we conclude that a public reproval with conditions will adequately protect the public, the courts, and the legal profession.  Comparable case law fully supports this discipline.  (See In the Matter of Fonte (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 752, 757 [no culpability for rule 3-110 violation for failure to file answers to interrogatories after fourth time extension where simple calendar error due to recent computer change]; In the Matter of Respondent G (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 175 [private reproval with conditions for repeatedly failing to perform legal services by neglecting client’s needs in probate case]; In the Matter of Hanson, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703 [public reproval with conditions for failing to promptly return unearned fee with 17-year-old prior discipline; no culpability for isolated rule 3-110 violation for filing late response to motion to dismiss].)
IV.  ORDER
	Roland Clark Colton is ordered publicly reproved, to be effective 15 days after service of this opinion and order.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.127(A).)  
	Further, Roland Clark Colton must comply with specified conditions set forth in this order.  (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 9.19; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.128.)  Failure to comply with any condition may constitute cause for a separate proceeding for willful breach 
of rule 1-110.  
	Roland Clark Colton is ordered to comply with the following conditions for a period of one year following the effective date of this order: 
1. He must comply with the provisions of the State Bar Act and the Rules of Professional Conduct.

2. Within 10 days of any change in the information required to be maintained on the membership records of the State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions Code     section 6002.1, subdivision (a), including his current office address and telephone number, or if no office is maintained, the address to be used for State Bar purposes, he must report such change in writing to the Membership Records Office and the State Bar Office of Probation. 

3. Within one year of the effective date of this public reproval, he must submit to the Office of Probation satisfactory evidence of completion of the State Bar’s Ethics School and passage of the test given at the end of that session.  This requirement is separate from any Minimum Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) requirement, and he shall not receive MCLE credit for attending Ethics School.

4. He must take and pass the Multistate Professional Responsibility Examination administered by the National Conference of Bar Examiners within one year of the effective date of this public reproval and provide satisfactory proof of such passage to the Office of Probation within the same period.  

5. Subject to the assertion of applicable privileges, he must answer fully, promptly, and truthfully, any inquiries of the Office of Probation that are directed to him personally or in writing, relating to whether he is complying or has complied with the conditions contained herein.  


V.  COSTS
	We further recommend that costs be awarded to the State Bar in accordance with Business and Professions Code section 6086.10, such costs being enforceable both as provided in section 6140.7 and as a money judgment.  
							PURCELL, J.

WE CONCUR:
REMKE, P. J.
EPSTEIN, J.
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